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FOR A RE-PRAESENTATIO OF ROYAL AND HOLY BODIES: THE MONUMENTAL
TOMBS OF VIENNE (ISERE) IN THEIR LITURGICAL SETTINGS

Barbara Franzé

A Holy Sepulchre was constructed in the narthex of the Carolingian cathedral of St Maurice at
Vienne. The cathedral was then partially reconstructed between 1140 and 1170, during which time
this imitation of the tomb of Christ was not only preserved but became the centerpiece of a new
iconographic programme. Subsequently, in the second quarter of the 13th century, Archbishop Jean
de Bernin extended the cathedral and constructed a suite of lateral chapels. Bernin's cathedral
extension, along with the construction of buildings for the canons on the north side of the cathedral,
necessitated the destruction of three former chapels and the disruption of a cemetery which housed
several tombs of kings and queens of Burgundy, including that of Boson. In homage to their
memory, the chapels were reconstructed east of the new cloister and the tombs of two queens of
Burgundy were moved. Thus, the reorganization respected the original disposition of tombs and
spaces within the cathedral precinct. The coherence of an iconographic programme established in
the 12th century was preserved while a more elaborate ‘scenography’was developed.

In its present state, the cathedral of St Maurice at Vienne is the result of three principal construction
campaigns between the 1120s and the first quarter of the 16th century. The following study will
focus on the cathedral as it appeared in the middle of the 13th century.! This situation was the result
of an extension and reorganization of the 12th-century ecclesiastical space orchestrated by Jean de
Bernin, archbishop of Vienne from 1218 to 1265. The study of the architecture and décor of the
cathedral, consecrated in 1251, demonstrates that Jean de Bernin intended to magnify the splendor

of its earlier ceremonies as organized around preexisting liturgical centres.



THE CATHEDRAL OF VIENNE: CONSTRUCTION STAGES

As the result of its early christianisation, Vienne became an episcopal see by the end of the 3rd
century. Between the 4th and the 5th centuries, the episcopal complex included a cathedral
dedicated to the Maccabees, a baptistery dedicated to St John and a church under the name of the
Virgin Mary. In 720, the acquisition of relics of St Maurice and the soldiers of the Theban legion by
Bishop Eoalde induced a change in the dedication of the cathedral church, which from then on
tended to be referred to as under patronage of Maurice. According to the chronicle written by
Bishop Ado of Vienne in 870, the relics bought by Eoalde were deposited in a ‘small vaulted
building’ (domunculam cryptatim). The obit of Bishop Burchard (c. 1030), who ordered its
renovation, indicates that the domuncula was placed ‘in paradiso’ (Fig. 1 (a)), probably close to the
northern entrance of the cathedral.2 Indeed, the mid-13th-century Ordinary of the cathedral
describes this entrance as the ‘porta paradisi’ 3

In the time of Bishop Volfére (c. 797-801),* or of Bishop Ado (860-875),> a westwork
dedicated to the Saviour was erected at the cathedral, and, at some time after 871, a small
construction imitating the tomb of Christ in Jerusalem (Holy Sepulchre) was built there by Bishop
Ado. This was renovated twice in the course of the 13th century.® First by William de Cuvier before
1215, then by Jean de Bernin some years later.” In its primitive state, the ‘small house’ (domuncula)
of the Holy Sepulchre was closed by a door, in front of which was placed a ‘concave’ stone altar,
dedicated to Mary Magdalen (the Sinner), to Saint Peter the Denier, and to the Good Thief?
According to the Vienne Ordinary, composed around 1240 at the initiative of Jean de Bernin, there
were many altars associated with the Holy Sepulchre which were placed inside the domuncula.’
When the pavement of the church was replaced in 1525, the Holy Sepulchre was moved to the
middle of the small cloister, or ‘petit-cloitre’, before being destroyed in 1804. In order to respect the
original display, the relics were deposited in a ‘cave’ beneath the Holy Sepulchre.10 A late-18th-
century print shows its facade decorated with large statues placed under a poly-lobed arch and a
gabled roof. This décor was the result of the 13th-century transformations.

When the Holy Sepulchre was moved into the cloister, the builders were careful to indicate
its location (Fig. 1 (I)). The inscription Hic erat capella Sancti Sepulcri is still visible on the
pavement in the seventh bay of the nave from the east. The 1953 excavations revealed traces of a
three-step staircase leading to a half-buried space. On its western side, the Holy Sepulchre almost
abutted a wall — the facade of the Carolingian narthex.!! Partially restored in the 11th century by

Archbishop Léger, the Carolingian cathedral was rebuilt as early as the second quarter of the 12th



century. These transformations were aimed at amplifying and unifying the ecclesiastical space. The
nave was augmented by the breadth of a side aisle, the wall separating the nave from the westwork
was torn down, while its western wall was used as a facade for the new church.!? The 12th-century
project does not seem to have included the construction of additional bays for the Romanesque
architecture ends exactly at the level of the Carolingian facade.

The addition of four new bays is the work of John de Bernin, who also built side chapels
between the buttresses of the Romanesque nave. The foundation of these lateral chapels, an
important source of income, served to fund the large community of canons, who numbered over 200
in the 13th century.!? The project was only completed only in the early 14th century, with the
construction of the three fagade portals.

Such as it was planned in the 12th century, the cathedral integrated the domuncula of the
Holy Sepulchre in a redefined space. Despite its reorientation towards the north and despite the fact
that, adjacent to the western wall, it must have constituted an obstacle to the building's entrance, it
was retained in its original location. With the 13th-century rearrangement, the circulatory problem
was resolved by the addition of extra bays. The Holy Sepulchre, rebuilt and embellished with a rich
décor, was from that time onwards better integrated into the ecclesiastical space. From the
beginning it acted as a liturgical focus and remained so. Analysis of the Romanesque sculpture, as

well as the 13th-century Vienne Ordinary, will confirm this.

THE HOLY SEPULCHRE: DECOR AND LITURGY

The sixty 12th-century capitals that survive at Vienne cathedral are the work of at least three teams
of sculptors.!4 Out of these sixty, twenty-five are figurative of which eighteen are historiated. Seven
scenes were taken from the Old Testament and ten from the New Testament. Art historians have
tried with limited success to explain their distribution — though there is a strong argument regard the
capitals arranged around the Holy Sepulchre as a separate and distinct ensemble. Ricki Weinberger
and Caroline Berne, following Pierre Héliot’s initial observations, have pointed out that the decision
to locate the capitals which treat the last episodes of the Life of Christ and his Resurrection on the
seventh pier of the north nave arcade was determined by the presence of the Holy Sepulchre. Here
one can see Christ’s Triumphal Entry into Jerusalem (Fig. 1 (24) and Fig. 2), the Last Supper and
Mandatum (Fig. 1 (25)), as well as the visit of the Three Maries to the Tomb (Fig. 1 (26)). The
Ascension appears on the eighth pier of the north arcade (Fig. 1 (28)). The Vienne Ordinary

indicates that the Holy Sepulchre served as a backdrop for the relevant liturgical ceremonies.!5



During the year, at least two masses were celebrated at the Holy Sepulchre: at Lauds on the
feast of Mary Magdalen,'¢® and at Matins on Easter Day.!” During the Easter festivities, processions
were organised around the Holy Sepulchre. On Easter Day, at Matins, the archbishop recited the
confiteor in front of the Holy Sepulchre. He would then enter the Tomb, say a prayer and kiss the
walls and altars. On leaving the Holy Sepulchre he returned to the choir with some of the cantors
and acclaimed Resurrexit Dominus (in medio choro) and a cantor would reply Et apparuit Petro.!8
At high mass on the same day, the archbishop processed from the choir to the Sepulchre
accompanied by some of the clergy, where a dialogue between the Angel and the Holy Women - the
quem quaeritis — took place in front of the entrance to the domuncula.’® On Ascension day, again at
Matins, the canons carried the relics of the martyrs Julian and Ferreol in procession, as well as the
head of Saint Maurice, preceded by the archbishop. After a station in front of the north porch, ‘of
paradise’, the procession continued towards the centre of the church, then to the Sepulchre. There
then took place the dialogue of the Angel and the Apostles. To the Quem creditis sung by two
cantors, their backs to the Sepulchre, two or three canons would reply ‘Xristum qui surrexit’, then
‘Jam ascendit’. The canons said Alleluia and then regained the choir where the ceremony
continued.20 As noted by Caroline Berne, the wording of the Easter tropes in use in Vienne during
the 13th century is characteristic of the 10th century. Thus, the Easter liturgy devised by John de
Bernin faithfully perpetuated the practices in use in the Carolingian narthex when it dedicated to
Christ.2!

Caroline Berne is the only art historian thus far to argue that the Romanesque capitals of
Vienne Cathedral have a common goal - the glorification of Christ Resurrected. Moreover, the
monsters and demons which adorn nine of the capitals might also serve as warnings to the faithful,
cautioning them against practices which would lead away from salvation.?2 It is my belief that the
embellishment of the Romanesque church should be understood as a coherent whole. This
coherence stems from two motives; on the one hand, to inscribe in stone — literally petrify — the
liturgical and paraliturgical rites of the cathedral, and, on the other hand, to serve as a reminder of

the origins of the Church of Vienne.

LITURGICAL FOCI

The northern side aisle

In the twelfth century, the liturgical space of the cathedral of Vienne was organised around four

main areas: the Holy Sepulchre, and the three principal entrances to the church (Fig. 1 (I, a, b, ¢)).



In the thirteenth century, the choir screen served as a fifth area.

Nowadays, one may access the cathedral from three sides: from the west by three portals
which were completed in the sixteenth century; from the north and the south by doors which, in
their current state, must be attributed to Jean de Bernin. In the twelfth-century church, the presence
of the Holy Sepulchre against the facade hindered circulation from the west. In the thirteenth
century, although Jean de Bernin's project certainly included a large western entrance, the Liber
Ordinarius only singles out the north nave porch. Indeed, it is written that numerous processions,
passing through the north porch, linked the cathedral to the cloisters, the canonial buildings, the
chapels and the archbishop's palace. All these buildings belong to the project planned and
implemented by Jean de Bernin. In spite of their destruction in 1804, eighteenth-century maps allow
for their reconstitution.

Thus, we learn that the chapter-house opened on to the west walk of the cloister. In the
north-eastern angle, a door led towards the archbishop's palace (Fig. 1 (b)). Off the east walk of the
cloister were three chapels, dedicated to the Virgin (Fig 1 (II)), John the Baptist (Fig. 1 (III)), and
the Holy Maccabees and to St Maurice (Fig. 1 (IV)) respectively. The chapel of John the Baptist
housed the cathedral fonts and was used for baptisms. These three chapels replaced earlier
sanctuaries which were taken down during the enlargement and reorganisation of the cathedral,
namely the early church of the Virgin and baptistery of St John, both of which dated back to the 4th
century, and the chapel of St Maurice, built in the 8th century to host the relics of the saint. The
chapel of St Maurice was located in front of the cathedral’s north entrance, known as ‘the door of
Paradise’ in the early 11th century and still called this in the 13th-century Liber Ordinarius (Fig. 1
(a)). In the 19th century, the alley that runs along the north flank of the cathedral was called the
‘alley of paradise’.2> One significant change was made. During the reconstruction of the chapel of
St. Maurice, on the east side of the cloister, the relics were divided between the new chapel altar
and the cathedral high altar of the cathedral, excepting for his jaw, which was set in a reliquary
commissioned by Jean de Bernin. This reliquary was subsequently carried in procession on Holy
Thursday, the day of the feast of the Revelation implemented by Jean de Bernin.24

The 13th-century rearrangements also called for the destruction of the tombs and mausolea
which occupied the northern part of the cathedral, probably originally grouped around the relics of
St Maurice, near the Door of Paradise.> However, Jean de Bernin was careful to preserve the tombs
of two Burgundian queens; Mathilda (died 982), wife of the Burgundian king, Conrad III, whose
tomb was placed in the entrance of the lady chapel (Fig. 1 (II); and Ermengarde (died 1057), wife of
Rodolphe III, whose tomb was placed in front of the door to the chapel of St. John (Fig. 1 (III)).



The walls against which the tombs were placed were covered with paintings representing the two
women, crowned and holding sceptres,2¢ as well as inscriptions relating the date of their death and
the donations they had made to the church of Vienne.?” On the wall of the chapel of St. Maurice,
King Rodolphe III, husband of Ermengarde, was represented (Fig. 1 (IV)). All three tombs were the
object of devotions that were still attested in the 16th century.?

Before the building works of the 13th century, the grave of Boso (died 887), the first king of
Burgundy, was also located in the northern part of the cathedral, close to the tombs of the two
queens and to the Paradise door. It was there that Louis the Blind, Boso’s son, had his own tomb
built, intending to make the cathedral the necropolis of the kings of Burgundy. Wishing to associate
their royal authority with St Maurice, Boso and his successors encouraged his cult. They offered the
cathedral a luxurious reliquary-bust,2® and contributed to the change in the dedication of the
cathedral, which was placed under the patronage of St Maurice at the end of the 9th century30.

At the beginning of the 13th century, the enlargement of the cathedral and the construction
of the new cloister required the destruction of Boso's mausoleum. Nevertheless, Jean de Bernin was
careful to keep the royal remains, which he deposited within the cathedral, in the fifth chapel of the
northern side aisle (Fig. 1 (V)). This probably corresponded to the original site of Boso's tomb, near
the chapel of St. Maurice and the door of Paradise. The old epitaph from Boso's tomb was
transcribed onto a new marble slab, which was inserted in the western wall of the chapel 3!

Thus, Jean de Bernin took great care to preserve the memory of the kings of Burgundy, whe
who had been prestigious benefactors to the cathedral of Vienne. At the same time, he provided the
cathedral with a single dedication to St Maurice, which between the 10th and 12th centuries tended
to be overshadowed by dedication to the Saviour. The patronage of the Saviour ceased to be
mentioned following the consecration of 1251. By commissioning the new reliquary-bust and by
establishing the feast of the Revelation, Jean de Bernin aimed to promote the cult of Maurice,

following the example of his predecessors, the kings of Burgundy.

Around the tomb of Boso: A royal presence apparent in the décor

Amid the twelfth-century décor of the cathedral which Jean de Bernin took care to preserve, the
capitals situated near the tomb of Boso served as manifestations of the royal presence. On the fifth
pier of the nave arcade, located between the tomb of Boso and the Paradise door, two capitals are
devoted to King David. That to the north shows the combat with Goliath and victory against the
Philistines (Fig. 1 (17)). That to the west shows King David playing the lute (Fig. 1 (18)).



David was considered a model for princes from Carolingian times. The royal virtues of
justice and equity made medieval kings comparable to David, and by assimilation presented them as
agents for the defence of the Church and of Christendom. In the third quarter of the 11th century,
the entourage of Gregory VII compared the royal struggle against the infidels of Spain and the Holy
Land to the struggle of David against the Philistines.32 On the side of the princes, identification with
King David was also encouraged, and conveyed by figurative representation. Thus, in the early 12th
century at Saint-Bertin, the choir mosaic associated King David with William, late son of the Count
of Flanders, in a composition aimed at legitimising the count's authority.33 At Saint-Aubin in
Angers, the chapter-house entrance features David fighting Goliath, next to an armed man fighting a
monster. David's presence could be explained by the function of the chapter house, which was also
destined to receive lay people for rituals of donation or restitution of goods belonging to the
abbey.34

In Vienne, Samson fighting a lion appears next to David, on the north face of the sixth pillar
(Fig. 21). Together, these two subjects provide a frame for Boso's grave and signal its presence. The
combat between Samson and the lion was often represented on church portals. At Saint-Aubin of
Angers, the two capitals on the left side of the entrance of the chapter house represent two episodes
in the life of Samson. His fight against the lion and the cutting of his hair by the Philistines after his
capture. At Saint-Aubin it can be found also at the entrance of the refectory, where it appears twice.
At the Mas-d'Agenais, Samson is associated with David at the entrance of the church and, at
Moissac, Samson appears on the left pillar of the door which opens towards the nave of the abbey
church.

For specialists in the Gregorian reform, particularly in Italy, choosing to insert Samson and
the lion into the facade of a church symbolises the submission of temporal power to the Church.?>
They borrow this interpretation from the well-known commentary of Isidore of Seville, according
to which the defeated lion is like the kings who, after opposing Christ, employ themselves to spread
the Word of God.?¢ In certain cases, however, especially in spaces where the aim was to arouse the
generosity of the laity, or to glorify princely authority, Samson and the Lion conveys one of the
functions of lay power, namely the struggle for Christendom.

Further east in the cathedral of Vienne, Solomon is represented making his judgement (Fig.

1 (4)). Here he is the model of the good king, wise and fair, as opposed to Herod, the ‘tyrant king’,
represented opposite, in the south aisle (Fig. 1 (2°))%7. The connection between Solomon and Herod
is all the more obvious in that both capitals are the work of the same sculptor. The fighting knights

on the north face of the third pillar could be a reference to the ‘just’ war of the Christians against the



Infidels, a prominent theme as the rebuilding of the cathedral took place at the time of the crusades
(Fig. 1 (9)). In opposition to this ‘holy war’ is the unjust war, represented on the next pillar by
fighting demons (Fig. 1 (13)).

Penitential iconography

In the north aisle, there is a fourth Old Testament episode. To the left of the Paradise door, Daniel is
rescued by Habakkuk from the lion's den (Fig. 1 (15)). In a similar way to Samson and the lion, this
episode of the life of Daniel is often integrated into church entrances. For example, it appears at the
entrance to the south apse at the monastic church of Saint-Ferme (Gironde), where the capital faces
David, as well as on the west portal of Jaca. The most monumental example of a representation of
Daniel in the lion's den at the entrance to a church remains, however, the porch of Beaulieu-sur-
Dordogne.

In the Middle Ages, the primary meaning attached to Daniel in the lion's den is penitential.
Indeed, as we have been reminded by John Chrysostom, it is through his fasting that Daniel was
spared by the lions.38 Moreover, as Serafin Moralejo pointed out, the prayer addressed by Daniel to
God asking for the forgiveness of his sins is the prayer pronounced by the penitent during the
ceremony of reconciliation. This is why Daniel was invoked at Jaca, as part of a setting for the
penitential liturgy which took place, at Easter, in front of the cathedral porch.3®

To penitents seeking salvation, the Church offered various possibilities for redemption -
though pilgrimage and holy war, as well as fasting and charity. The fighting knights near the
entrance and Daniel point to attitudes of repentance. As for charity, this adorns the northern face of
the eighth pillar, significantly placed by the entrance of the Romanesque cathedral (Fig. 1 (29)).

The Expulsion of Adam and Eve appears on the third pier, near the north door facing Daniel
(Fig. 1 (10), Fig. 2). As with Samson and Daniel, the motif of Adam and Eve is frequently
associated with church entrances: among the most famous examples, we may count the north porch
of Santiago de Compostela, the Porta Francigena which the pilgrims accessed through the square
of Paradise#0, the Porte Miegeville at Saint-Sernin, Toulouse, and the lateral porch of Saint-Lazare
at Autun. The presence of Adam and Eve at the doorstep of churches ought to be linked with the
penitential liturgy.

According to the mid-10th-century Romano-Germanic Pontifical, which by ¢. 1000 had
become the norm in every cathedral north of the Alps, public rites of penance stipulate that on Ash

Wednesday, the first day of Lent, penitents should present themselves at the cathedral door.



Received by the bishop, they are then chased out of the church, and this symbolic exclusion from
the community of brethren was a reference to the chasing of Adam and Eve out of earthly
Paradise.*! The readmission of penitents was effective on Holy Thursday, thanks to the ceremony of
Reconciliation.

The Vienne Ordinary testifies to this ritual taking place inside the cathedral on Ash
Wednesday. After the ninth hour, the clergy gathered in the choir would receive the ashes before
returning to the nave. The archbishop would then prostrate himself ante lectricem, probably
meaning in front of the rood screen. By the 13th century at Vienne Cathedral a rood screen
separated the choir from the nave (Fig. 1 (VI)). The penitents were led inside the church, but then
chased out of the church by the archbishop, who would shut the door (januas) three times behind
them. The ceremony was followed by a procession to the three chapels in the cloister.*2 On Holy
Thursday, after the ninth hour, the archbishop descended to the doors (ad januas) where he joined
the penitents and pronounced a sermon. Then the archbishop would recite the Venite filii three times
and introduce the penitents. Prostrating themselves with the archbishop in front of the rood screen,
they would pronounce the seven penitential psalms (except the Gloria Patri) before receiving
absolution.43

The Ordinary does not indicate the door from which the penitents were expelled, nor
through which they were readmitted. Their expulsion was probably done by the small north door
(porta paradisi), as the ceremony continued with a procession to the three chapels in the cloister. It
is in the vicinity of this door that we find the capital showing God chasing Adam and Eve from the
Garden of Eden. It is possible that the penitents were readmitted from the west, proceeding through
the nave towards the rood screen. On the first western pillar of the nave, Christ is represented
freeing the Righteous from limbo (Fig 1 (28°), Fig. 3). At the head of the procession, Christ
appears, catching Adam's arm in the same manner as he did when he chased Adam out of Eden.
Significantly, the readmission of the Righteous to Paradise is placed opposite Charity (Fig. 1 (29)):

indeed, it is the practice of this virtue which guaranteed access to salvation.

The southern side aisle

In the south aisle of the cathedral, the ‘ornamental’ capitals are more numerous than is the case in
the north aisle: out of thirty sculpted capitals, twenty-two are decorated with foliage and rinceaux,
sometimes associated with masks. However, we may note a concentration of the historiated capitals

around the south entrance, directly opposite the Paradise door. (Fig. 1 (¢)). Described as the ‘porta



nova’ in 1257, the south portal opened on to the cemetery for the poor and the laity, a burial ground
which was consecrated by Pope Pascal II in 1107.#4 In the 13th century, a covered gallery ran along
the south wall of the nave, where lords paid homage to the chapter and to the archbishop.’

Near the door, two scenes are found which are frequently associated with church entrances:
Lust, on the west side of the fourth pier (14”), and the Sacrifice of Isaac, on the west pier of the
doorway itself (19°). Lust features on the left embrasures of the porches at Moissac and Beaulieu,
for example, and on the Porte des Comtes at Saint-Sernin, Toulouse. The Sacrifice of Isaac appears
as often at the entrance to churches as at the entrance to the sanctuary. It can be seen, for example,
on the portal of Saint-Michel at Lescure (Tarn), next to Adam and Eve, or on the triumphal arch
preceding the choir of the church of Mazeres (Ari¢ge). The Sacrifice of Isaac was understood as a
prefiguration of the God’s Sacrifice of his Son, and thus of the Eucharist. This would explain its
presence around altars or at the entrances to churches - places for the celebration of the eucharist46.

In the cathedral of Vienne, the scene of the Repentant Sinner anointing the feet of Christ
(Luke 736-50) faces Isaac (Fig. 1 (18’)). In addition to its function as a prefiguration of the Last
Supper and of the Eucharist, it also conveys a strong penitential meaning. This would explain its
proximity to the entrance to the church, but with Lust on the adjacent pier (Fig. 1 (14”)).

Three other episodes of the life of Christ are brought together on the easternmost three piers
of the south aisle: the Magi before Herod (Fig. 1 (2°)), the Resurrection of Lazarus (Fig. 1, (8’)) and
the Adoration of the Magi (Fig. I (9”)). It is possible that this selection of scenes and positioning

was dictated by the performance of liturgical dramas in the cathedral.

The capitals of the south aisle: a backdrop for liturgical drama?

The capitals of the Adoration of the Magi and the Magi before Herod are, together with the
Judgement of Solomon (Fig. 1 (4)), all by the same sculptural workshop. In a significant way, the
organization of the scenes in the south aisle is identical, allowing for face-to-face confrontation
between the main protagonists*’. The figures are in a dialectic of opposition: to Herod, the bad king,
is opposed the model of the magi-kings demonstrating, by their gifts, their adherence to the divine
will and their submission to the Church.

In the 13th century, these two scenes were reproduced in larger format on two slabs of stone
now integrated in the north and south walls of the nave (Fig. 4). According to the Vienne Ordinary,
during the Sunday ceremony for the blessing of altars with holy water, the procession would halt in

in front of an image of the Virgin in the nave and sing the Salve Regina.48 Nicolas Charvet suggests



that this image was in the nave.* It probably accompanied the Adoration of the Magi and the Magi
before Herod on the rood screen separating the area for the lay people from the canons’ choir in the
time of Jean de Bernin.>°

Still according to the Vienne Ordinary, at Epiphany and on the preceding day, there was a
reading of the Gospels from the tribune of the rood screen, followed by the Oftertory. The canons
would then sing the Reges Tharsis, characteristic of the 11th century. In the study of liturgical
dramas, Karl Young reminds us that this song accompanied the clergy while they brought their
offerings to the altar, in the guise of the Magi offering their gifts to the infant Jesus.5! Although the
Vienne Ordinary does not explicitly state that liturgical plays took place within the cathedral, the
settings reconstructed here correspond to indications given by the 14th-century Rouen Missal; that
after the third hour, three clerks dressed as kings would enter the choir from three opposite
directions and meet at the high altar in the choir. Guided by the star, they proceeded west, in the
direction of the nave. Stepping into the nave, they would halt in front of the star, situated above the
altar of the Holy Cross. This altar supported a Virgin with Child, to which the three kings would
present their offerings, followed by the other members of the clergy.>? In Vienne, as in Rouen, the
Virgin with Child was probably represented on the rood screen. At its centre stood the altar of the
Cross, serving as the parish altar. At Rouen, and maybe at Vienne, the drama of the Adoration of the
Magi was then followed by the encounter between the Magi and King Herod.

At Vienne as elsewhere, the Resurrection of Lazarus was celebrated on the 17 December33.
At 13th-century Saint-Benoit-sur-Loire, for example, the liturgical play associated this episode with
that of the Repentant Sinner anointing Christ’s feet during the Meal with Simon of Bethany. In
Vienne, the first biblical scene appears in the south aisle (Fig. 1 (18”)). This choice of theme appears
all the more significant in that historiated capitals are quite rare in this part of the building,
amounting to no more than six out of the thirty capitals in the south aisle. Karl Young postulates
that in certain churches, the Holy Sepulchre could represent the tomb of Bethany.54 In much the
same way the tomb of Lazarus at Autun could serve as a backdrop for the Easter play of the quem

quaeritis.>>

The ceremonies which took place in Vienne cathedral are only briefly described in the
Ordinary, which does not formally detail the sequence of liturgical plays. According to the
Ordinary, the cathedral was mostly devoted to liturgical celebration, made particularly sumptuous
by the large number of canons, the luxury of their clothing and the ornaments they carried, as well

as by the daily processions which took place in the church and adjacent buildings. The interior



space could nevertheless serve for extra-liturgical events. Indeed, it appears that in the time of Jean
de Bernin, the Feast of the Innocents gave way to boisterous farcical plays by lay people and clerks,
which were forbidden by legislation in 1249.5¢ The performance of liturgical plays, aimed at
enhancing the splendour of the cathedral and attracting the faithful, corresponded perfectly with
Jean de Bernin's strategy for his church. By integrating the royal tombs, by preserving the liturgical
memory of the earlier cathedral in its spatial arrangements, by respecting the 12th-century
iconographical programme, and by staying true to Carolingian rituals, the archbishop expressed his
determination to preserve the traditions of his church. Building on past contributions, Jean de
Bernin enhanced the ecclesiastical space through the addition of a rich décor and lavish ceremonies,

as well as, in all likelihood, through the performance of elaborate liturgical plays.
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